1989

Wilbert Rowley v. Jeff Layton : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This was a breach of contract action filed by Plaintiff relating to a contract for the purchase of trees and water rights. This appeal deals with the propriety of a determination

by the trial court to vacate a summary judgment entered December 22, 1986.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Plaintiff filed a Motion to Vacate on or after May 6, 1987, more than four months after entry of summary judgment. Plaintiff relied on Rule 60(b)(7), when the facts asserted by Plaintiff clearly showed that relief could only be granted under Rule 60(b)(1). The trial court nevertheless granted relief under Rule 60(b)(7), which constituted an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court.

DETERMINATIVE RULES

The determinative rule which governs disposition of this case is Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which establishes the conditions upon which a trial court may grant relief from a final judgment or order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed a Breach of Contract Claim against Defendant for non-payment of certain funds which were allegedly due pursuant to a contract for the purchase of trees and water rights. (See pages 13-16 of the Record on Appeal.) The case was originally filed by Plaintiff in San Pete County District Court, but was later transferred to Salt Lake County pursuant to Defendant's motion. (See page 2 of the Record on Appeal.) After transfer of the case to Salt Lake County, Defendant filed an Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint (See pages 18-20 of the Record on

Appeal.) and served Requests for Admissions upon Plaintiff pursuant to Rule 36(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (See page 21 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "A" attached hereto for the Court's Convenience.)

The Requests for Admissions remained unanswered for more than 30 days, and Defendant therefore moved for Summary Judgment on the grounds that the items deemed admitted entitled Defendant to judgment as a matter of law. (See pages 26-28 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "B" attached hereto.) A hearing was scheduled by Defendant's counsel for December 22, 1986, and Notice of Hearing was mailed to Plaintiff's counsel. (See pages 29-30 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "C" attached hereto.)

There was no appearance by Plaintiff's counsel at the hearing on December 22, 1986, and the trial court entered Summary Judgment in Defendant's favor. (See pages 31-32 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "D" attached hereto.) Notice of the entry of Summary Judgment was mailed to Plaintiff's counsel within four (4) days following the entry thereof. (See pages 33-35 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "E" attached hereto.)

Plaintiff's counsel later contacted Defendant's counsel on January 16, 1987, regarding the Summary Judgment which had been entered and offered an explanation as to why Plaintiff's counsel had not appeared at the hearing on December 22, 1986. Plaintiff's counsel requested at that time that the Summary Judgment be voluntarily set aside. This request was not agreed

to, and Plaintiff's counsel was specifically informed that he would have to file a Motion to Set Aside the Judgment with the Court. Plaintiff's counsel indicated that he would be filing such a motion, and the conversation was thereupon concluded. (See pages 122-125 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "F" attached hereto.)

Several weeks passed, and a Motion to Vacate was finally filed by Plaintiff's counsel. (See pages 36-37 of the Record on Appeal and Exhibit "G" attached hereto.) This document was dated May 6, 1987, but the clerk's notation indicates it was received by the Court on June 4, 1987. In any event, it was well past the 90 days allowed for Rule 60(b)(1) motions. A Memorandum in Support of this Motion was also filed. (See pages 42-45 of the Record on Appeal, and Exhibit "H" attached hereto.) This Memorandum alleged the following facts:

1. Plaintiff had been incorrectly informed as to the Case Number by the Salt Lake County Clerk after the case had been transferred to Salt Lake County. (See page 44 of the Record on Appeal.)

2. Plaintiff was not aware of the correct Case Number prior to the hearing on December 22, 1986. (See page 45 of the Record on Appeal.)

3. Plaintiff filed timely responses to the Request for Admissions which were apparently lost by the Salt Lake County Court, presumably because of the incorrect Case Number. (See page 44 of the Record on Appeal.)

4. Plaintiff did not attend the Summary Judgment hearing on December 22, 1986, because he had called the Court Clerk and had been informed that no hearing was scheduled. This mis-information was again allegedly the result of the incorrect Case Number. (See page 45 of the Record on Appeal.)

The Memorandum filed by Plaintiff in support of the Motion to Vacate did not refer to the Notice of Judgment mailed to Plaintiff four days after entry of the judgment, nor did it offer any excuse or explanation as to why this Notice of Judgment was ignored for so long. Furthermore, the Memorandum specifically acknowledged the conversation between respective counsel wherein Plaintiff's counsel requested that the Summary Judgment be voluntarily set aside. (See page 45 of the Record on Appeal.) Again, the Memorandum offered no justification or explanation as to why Plaintiff did not act immediately after having been informed that the Summary Judgment would not be voluntarily set aside.

A hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate the Judgment was held in August of 1987, and the trial court set aside the Summary Judgment, "under Rule 60(b)(7) and the equitable powers of the court". (See page 40 of the Record on Appeal and Exhibit "I" attached hereto.)

A trial was subsequently scheduled, and judgment entered in Plaintiff's favor, whereupon the instant appeal was filed. (See pages 223-231 of the Record on Appeal.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Accepting for the purposes of this appeal that the facts as outlined in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of his Motion to Vacate the Judgment are accurate, such facts clearly constitute "mistake", "inadvertence", and/or "neglect". Rule 60(b)(1) allows a judgment to be set aside for such reasons, but only if relief is requested within 90 days from the entry of judgment. Rule 60(b)(7) cannot be relied upon in an illusory attempt to circumvent the time limitations associated with Rule 60(b)(1). The trial court committed an abuse of discretion and reversible error when it granted relief under Rule 60(b)(7).

ARGUMENT

Accepting for the purposes of this appeal that the exposition of facts as outlined in Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of the Motion to Vacate are accurate, it is nevertheless clear that the basis for Plaintiff's claim for relief was on the grounds of "mistake", "inadvertence", and/or "neglect".

Plaintiff alleges that he was misinformed as to the correct Case Number which had been assigned by the Salt Lake County Court. If this is true, it is difficult to understand how this could be characterized as anything other than a "mistake". Even if this "mistake" was attributable to court personnel, the fact remains that Plaintiff had ample opportunity to discern the correct case number. For instance, Plaintiff acknowledged receiving Defendant's Request for Admissions, (See page 44,

paragraph 4 of the Record on Appeal); the Motion for Summary Judgment, (See page 44, paragraph 5 of the Record on Appeal); the Notice of Hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment and the Notice of Trial Setting. (See page 45, paragraph 5 of the Record on Appeal.) Each of these documents was mailed prior to the Summary Judgment Hearing, and each contained the correct Case Number. (See the case numbers and mailing dates on these documents found at pages 21, 26-28, 29-30, and 25 of the Record on Appeal, respectively.) It is therefore clear that if Plaintiff did not know the correct Case Number, it was because of his own mistake, inadvertence or neglect.

Another instance of the mistake, inadvertence and neglect of Plaintiff's counsel relates to his claim that he contacted the Court Clerk prior to the Summary Judgment Hearing because of an alleged conflict. He claims he was informed that no hearing was scheduled, and he therefore made no appearance at the hearing. It was a mistake and negligence to fail to appear at a hearing which had been properly noticed without contacting Defendant's counsel to confirm that the hearing was cancelled.

It was also a mistake and negligence to fail to contact Defendant's attorney regarding the alleged fact that Plaintiff had already responded to the Requests for Admissions. If the Requests for Admissions had in fact been responded to at the time the Motion For Summary Judgment was filed, a simple phone call to Defendant's counsel with the offer to mail a new copy of such responses would seem in order.

The most glaring example of the neglect of Plaintiff's counsel relates to his continued failure to act after Notice of the Summary Judgment was mailed to him on December 26, 1986. Failure to act immediately following receipt of this notice cannot be characterized as anything other than neglect, and hardly excusable neglect. Furthermore, Plaintiff's counsel contacted Defendant's counsel on January 16, 1987, requesting that the Summary Judgment be voluntarily set aside. When this request was rejected, emphasis was added to the urgency with which Plaintiff's counsel would be expected to act. Nevertheless, no action was taken for more than another four months.

Cases are fairly commonplace where, as here, a party delays more than 90 days in requesting relief from a judgment which was entered due to negligence or mistake, and then makes claim to relief under Rule 60(b)(7). However, the Utah Supreme Court has been clear, explicit and consistent in repeatedly stating that Rule 60(b)(7) may not be used to circumvent the 90 day time limitation associated with Rule 60(b)(1).

In Laub v. South Central Utah Telephone Association, Inc., 657 P.2d 1304 (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme Court found an abuse of discretion and reversed the trial court for modifying a judgment under Rule 60(b)(7) when the modification should have been granted, if at all, under Rule 60(b)(1). In Laub, the Plaintiffs were awarded judgment against the Defendant for personal injuries sustained in an automobile accident. Part of

the judgment included medical expenses which had been previously paid under the Plaintiff's PIP benefits of their own insurance policy. The Defendant later realized that Plaintiffs were receiving "double payment" and therefore moved the Court to reduce the judgment by the amount of benefits which had previously been paid. Defendant's motion was filed more than six months after the entry of judgment in Plaintiff's favor. The trial court approved the motion, and reduced the judgment accordingly.

The Supreme Court held that it was error for the trial court to modify the judgment which had been in effect for more than six months. In so ruling, the Court discussed at page 1307 the applicability of Rule 60(b)(7) and stated:

The power given to the Court by [Rule 60(b)(7)], however, "should be very cautiously and sparingly invoked by the Court only in unusual and exceptional circumstances." [See also Hughes v. Sanders, 287 F. Supp. 332, 334 (E. D. Okl. 1968).]

The Court went on to state:

The time strictures of Rule 60(b) are wholesome and necessary, for there must be an end to the time when judgments can be questioned . . . furthermore, since Subdivision (1) is applicable to the instant case, Subdivision (7) cannot apply and may not be used to circumvent the three month filing period.

In Matter of Estate of Pepper, 711 P.2d 261, 263 (Utah 1985) the Supreme Court stated:

If a party's grounds (for relief of a judgment) are properly encompassed within those four subsections [Rule 60(b)(1-4)] he cannot avoid the three month limitation by

employing the "catch-all" subsection (7).

In Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193, 1195 (Utah 1984)

the Supreme Court stated:

We have held that subparagraph 7 may not be resorted to for relief when the ground asserted for relief falls within subparagraph 1. (Citations omitted.) Otherwise, the three month limitation imposed on relief under subparagraph 1 is averted.

In Larson v. Collina, 684 P.2d 52, 54 (Utah 1984) the Court stated:

The three month period allowed for subsection (1) motions may not be circumvented by filing a motion under subsection (7).

In Calder Brothers Co. v. Anderson, 652 P.2d 922, 926 (Utah 1982) the Court stated:

Rule 60(b)(7) is not available to one who should have filed under Rule 60(b)(1) but did not.

In Pitts v. McLachlan, 567 P.2d 171, 173 (Utah 1977) the Court stated:

"It seems inescapable, also, to conclude that Rule 60(b)(1) is applicable here in the letter and spirit of rules governing procedure and practice and the doctrine of the exercise of diligence in the preservation of one's rights, failing which they are amenable to a limitations statutory feature looking to repose of litigation after a reasonable time, interdicted here to be three months under Rule 60(b)(1)

CONCLUSION

The Utah Supreme Court has been clear, explicit and consistent in repeatedly stating that Rule 60(b)(7) may not be

used to circumvent the 90 day time limitation associated with Rule 60(b)(1). Inasmuch as it is clear in this case that the basis for Plaintiff's claim for relief from the Summary Judgment was "mistake", "inadvertence" and "neglect", it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to ignore the time limitations of Rule 60(b)(1) and grant relief "under Rule 60(b)(7) and the equitable powers of the Court". Defendant therefore requests that the Order Vacating the Summary Judgment be reversed, and that judgment in favor of Defendant be reinstated.