1989

Wilbert Rowley v. Jeff Layton : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This was a breach of contract action filed by Plaintiff relating to a contract for the purchase of trees and water rights. This appeal deals with the propriety of a determination by the trial court to vacate a summary judgment entered December 22, 1986.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The sole issue in this case is whether the Appellant filed the Appeal, to this court, timely. Namely, the appeal of the lower court's discretion in granting the Order to Vacate Judgment, dated the 1st day of September, 1987. There exists no matter of right to the Appellant's appeal and therefore this court has no jurisdiction over this subject matter.

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Both Title II of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court Rule 4. (a) and Title II Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals Rule 4. (a) govern the disposition of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed a Breach of Contract Claim against Defendant for non-payment of certain funds which were allegedly due pursuant to a contract for the purchase of trees and water rights. (See pages 13-16 of the Record of Appeal) The case was originally filed by Plaintiff in Sanpete County District Court, but was later transferred to Salt Lake County pursuant to Defendant's motion. (See page 2 of the Record on Appeal.) After transfer of the case to Salt Lake County, Defendant filed an Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint (See pages 18-20 of the Record on Appeal.) and served Requests for admissions upon Plaintiff pursuant to Rule 36(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (See page 21 of the Record on Appeal.)

The Requests for Admissions remained unanswered for more than 30 days, and Defendant therefore moved for Summary Judgement on the grounds that the items deemed admitted entitled Defendant to judgement as a matter of law. (See pages 26-28 of the Record on Appeal.) A hearing was scheduled by Defendant's counsel for December 22, 1986, and Notice of Hearing was mailed to Plaintiff's counsel. (See pages 29-30 of the Record on Appeal.)

There was no appearance by Plaintiff's counsel at the

hearing on December 22, 1986, and the trial court entered Summary Judgment in Defendant's favor. (See pages 31-32 of the Record on Appeal.) Notice of the entry of Summary Judgment was mailed to Plaintiff's counsel within four (4) days following the entry thereof. (See pages 33-35 of the Record of Appeal.)

Plaintiff's counsel later contacted Defendant's counsel on January 16, 1987, regarding the Summary Judgment which had been entered and offered an explanation as to why Plaintiff's counsel had not appeared at the hearing on December 22, 1986. Plaintiff's counsel requested at that time that the Summary Judgment be voluntarily set aside. This request was not agreed to, and Plaintiff's counsel was specifically informed that he would have to file a Motion to Set Aside the Judgment with the Court. Plaintiff's counsel indicated that he would be filing such a motion, and the conversation was thereupon concluded. (See pages 122-125 of the Record on Appeal.)

Several weeks passed, and a Motion to Vacate was finally filed by Plaintiff's counsel. (See pages 36-37 of the Record on Appeal.) This document was dated May 6, 1987, but the clerk's notation indicates it was received by the Court on June 4, 1987.

A hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Vacate the Judgment was held in August of 1987, and the trial court set aside the summary Judgment, "under Rule 60(b) (7) and the equitable powers of the court." The order was dated SEPTEMBER 1, 1987 (See copy attached hereto as Exhibit "A" which by reference is made a part hereof).

A trial was subsequently held on the 20th day of September,

1988, and subsequently judgment was entered in Plaintiff's favor in the sum of \$10,532.12 on the 4th day of November, 1988, whereupon the instant appeal was filed. (See Pages 223-231 of the Record on Appeal.)

The Appellant did not file his appeal until the 23rd day of November, 1988 a copy of which is attached hereto and by reference made a part hereof as Exhibit "B". The time elapsed since the entry of the Order Vacating the Summary Judgment on 09-01-87 was 449 days. Further, the Appellant's notice states that the appeal is based in the judgment entered, but in fact the Appellant's appeal is based in the Order vacating Summary Judgment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal of the Appellant on the Order to Vacate Summary Judgment of District Court Judge James S. Sawaya dated the 1st day of September, 1987 was filed 419 days beyond the filing deadline of Title II. Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals and Title II. Rules of the Utah Supreme Court. Pursuant to Title II. Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals, Rule 4. (a):

"Appeal as of right: When taken . . . Appeal from final judgment and order. In a case in which an appeal is permitted as a matter of right from the district court, juvenile court, or circuit court to the Court of Appeals, the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the court from which the appeal is taken within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from.

The Order Vacating Summary Judgment dated the 09-01-87 is the basis of the Appellant's appeal and therefore was not timely filed pursuant to the foregoing rule. Further, Pursuant to Title II, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, Rule 4. (a):

"Appeal from final judgment and order. In a case in which an appeal is permitted as a matter of right from the district court to the Supreme Court, the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the district court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from . . ."

Again, the appellant's Notice of Appeal was not timely filed and was in fact filed 419 days beyond the requirements of this rule and this court therefore lacks jurisdiction on this subject matter.